TSARTLIP HEALTH CENTRE 2020-

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

TSARTLIP FIRST NATION

AND

THE BRITISH COLUMBIA NURSES' UNION

APRIL 1, 2020 TO APRIL 2, 2024

ARTICLE 1 — DEFINITIONS	
1.01 For the purpose of this Agreement	1
1.02	
ARTICLE 2 — PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT	
2.01	
2.02	
2.03 Recognition of Objectives and Principles	
ARTICLE 3 — UNION RECOGNITION	
3.01	
3.02	
ARTICLE 4 — UNION SECURITY	2
ARTICLE 5 — UNION DUES & DEDUCTIONS	
5.01	
5.02	
5.03	
5.04	
5.05	
5.06	
5.07	
ARTICLE 6 — UNION RIGHTS AND ACTIVITIES	
6.01	
6.02 Stewards	
6.03	
6.04	
6.05	
6.06	
6.07 Copies of the Collective Agreement	
6.08 New Employees	
6.09 Records Removed	
6.10 Leave for Union Matters	
ARTICLE 7 — STEWARDS TRAINING COURSES	5
ARTICLE 8 — CONTRACT NEGOTIATIONS AND PREPARATORY MEETINGS	
8.01	
8.02	
ARTICLE 9 —UNION BUSINESS or PUBLIC DUTIES 9.01	
9.01	
9.03	
9.04 Members	
9.05	
ARTICLE 10 — CONTRACTING OUT ARTICLE 11 — MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	
11.01	
ARTICLE 12 — BAND POLICIES	
12.01	
ARTICLE 13 — BAND BUSINESS	
13.01	
13.02	
ARTICLE 14 — BULLETIN BOARDS	
14.01	
ARTICLE 15 — NO STRIKE/LOCKOUT DURING THE TERM OF AGREEMENT	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

15.01		.8
15.02		.8
ARTICLE	16 — UNION/MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE	8
16.01		.8
16.02		.8
16.03		.9
16.04		.9
16.05		.9
	17 — GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	
17.01		.9
17.02		.9
17.03	Time Limits	10
17.04	Industry Troubleshooter	10
ARTICLE	18 — ARBITRATION	
18.01		10
18.02		10
18.03		10
18.05		11
	19 – HOURS OFWORK	
19.04	Flexible Hours	
	20 — OVERTIME	
20.01	Definitions	
20.02	Overtime Pay	
20.03	Overtime on Day Off	
20.04	Overtime on Paid Holiday	
20.05	Overtime Pay	
20.06	Compensating Time Off	
20.07	Overtime for Part time Employees	12
	21 — PAID HOLIDAYS	
21.01	Paid Holidays	
21.02	Holidays Falling on a Saturday or Sunday	
21.03	Holiday on a Day of Rest.	
21.04	Holiday Falling on a Scheduled Work Day	
21.05	Holiday Coinciding with a Day of Vacation	
21.06	Holiday Pay for Regular Part time Employees	
21.07	Christmas Closure	
21.08	Scheduling of Lieu Days	
	22 — UNPAID LEAVE	
	23 — SICK LEAVE	
	hort Term Illness and Injury Plan (STIIP)	
	24 — VACATION LEAVE	

		15
24.02		15
24.03		15
	Scheduling of Vacation	
	E 25 — BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	
	E 26 — PARENTAL LEAVE	
26.01	Natural Mother	
	Allowances	
	7 mowahees	
26.04	Return to Employment	
26.05	Bridging of Service	
26.00 26.07	00	
	Casual Employees 2 27 — PERSONAL LEAVE WITHOUT PAY	
	227 - 1 EKSONAL LEAVE WITHOUT TAT	
	2 28 — LEAVE FOR FAMILY-RELATED RESPONSIBILITIES	
20.01		- 21
28.02	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence	
28.02	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence	22
28.03	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child	22 22
28.03 28.04	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child Leave Respecting Death of Child	22 22 22
28.03 28.04 28.05	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child Leave Respecting Death of Child Compassionate Care Leave	22 22 22 22
28.03 28.04 28.05 28.06	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child Leave Respecting Death of Child Compassionate Care Leave Donor Leave	22 22 22 22 22
28.03 28.04 28.05 28.06 ARTICLE	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child Leave Respecting Death of Child Compassionate Care Leave Donor Leave 2 29 — COURT LEAVE	22 22 22 22 23 23
28.03 28.04 28.05 28.06 ARTICLE 29.01	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child Leave Respecting Death of Child Compassionate Care Leave Donor Leave 2 29 — COURT LEAVE	22 22 22 23 23 23
28.03 28.04 28.05 28.06 ARTICLH 29.01 29.02	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child Leave Respecting Death of Child Compassionate Care Leave Donor Leave 2 29 — COURT LEAVE	22 22 22 23 23 23 23
28.03 28.04 28.05 28.06 ARTICLE 29.01 29.02 29.03	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child Leave Respecting Death of Child Compassionate Care Leave Donor Leave 2 29 — COURT LEAVE	22 22 22 23 23 23 23 23 23
28.03 28.04 28.05 28.06 ARTICLE 29.01 29.02 29.03 ARTICLE	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child Leave Respecting Death of Child Compassionate Care Leave Donor Leave 2 29 — COURT LEAVE	22 22 22 23 23 23 23 23 23 23
28.03 28.04 28.05 28.06 ARTICLE 29.01 29.02 29.03 ARTICLE 30.01	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child Leave Respecting Death of Child Compassionate Care Leave Donor Leave 2 29 — COURT LEAVE	22 22 22 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23
28.03 28.04 28.05 28.06 ARTICLE 29.01 29.02 29.03 ARTICLE 30.01 30.02	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child Leave Respecting Death of Child Compassionate Care Leave Donor Leave 2 29 — COURT LEAVE	22 22 22 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23
28.03 28.04 28.05 28.06 ARTICLE 29.01 29.02 29.03 ARTICLE 30.01 30.02 30.03	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child Leave Respecting Death of Child Compassionate Care Leave Donor Leave 2 29 — COURT LEAVE	22 22 22 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23
28.03 28.04 28.05 28.06 ARTICLE 29.01 29.02 29.03 ARTICLE 30.01 30.02 30.03 30.04	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child Leave Respecting Death of Child Compassionate Care Leave Donor Leave 2 29 — COURT LEAVE	22 22 22 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 24 24
28.03 28.04 28.05 28.06 ARTICLE 29.01 29.02 29.03 ARTICLE 30.01 30.02 30.03 30.04 30.05	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child Leave Respecting Death of Child Compassionate Care Leave Donor Leave 2 29 — COURT LEAVE	22 22 22 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 24 24 24
28.03 28.04 28.05 28.06 ARTICLE 29.01 29.02 29.03 ARTICLE 30.01 30.02 30.03 30.04 30.05 ARTICLE	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child Leave Respecting Death of Child Compassionate Care Leave Donor Leave 2 29 — COURT LEAVE	22 22 22 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 24 24 24 24 24
28.03 28.04 28.05 28.06 ARTICLH 29.01 29.02 29.03 ARTICLH 30.01 30.02 30.03 30.04 30.05 ARTICLH 31.01	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child Leave Respecting Death of Child Compassionate Care Leave Donor Leave 2 29 — COURT LEAVE	22 22 22 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 24 24 24 24
28.03 28.04 28.05 28.06 ARTICLE 29.01 29.02 29.03 ARTICLE 30.01 30.02 30.03 30.04 30.05 ARTICLE 31.01 ARTICLE	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child Leave Respecting Death of Child Compassionate Care Leave Donor Leave 2 29 — COURT LEAVE 2 30 — LEAVE - WORKERS' COMPENSATION 2 30 — LEAVE - WORKERS' COMPENSATION 2 31 — EXAMINATION LEAVE	22 22 22 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 24 24 24 24 24
28.03 28.04 28.05 28.06 ARTICLE 29.01 29.02 29.03 ARTICLE 30.01 30.02 30.03 30.04 30.05 ARTICLE 31.01 ARTICLE 32.01	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child Leave Respecting Death of Child Compassionate Care Leave Donor Leave 2 29 — COURT LEAVE	22 22 22 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 24 24 24 24 24
28.03 28.04 28.05 28.06 ARTICLE 29.01 29.02 29.03 ARTICLE 30.01 30.02 30.03 30.04 30.05 ARTICLE 31.01 ARTICLE 32.01 32.02	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child Leave Respecting Death of Child Compassionate Care Leave Donor Leave 2 29 — COURT LEAVE	22 22 22 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 24 24 24 24 24 24 24
28.03 28.04 28.05 28.06 ARTICLE 29.01 29.02 29.03 ARTICLE 30.01 30.02 30.03 30.04 30.05 ARTICLE 31.01 32.01 32.02 ARTICLE	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child Leave Respecting Death of Child Compassionate Care Leave Donor Leave 2 29 — COURT LEAVE	22 22 22 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24
28.03 28.04 28.05 28.06 ARTICLE 29.01 29.02 29.03 ARTICLE 30.01 30.02 30.03 30.04 30.05 ARTICLE 31.01 32.01 32.02 ARTICLE 33.01	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child Leave Respecting Death of Child Compassionate Care Leave Donor Leave 29 - COURT LEAVE 230 - LEAVE - WORKERS' COMPENSATION 231 - EXAMINATION LEAVE 232 - CAREER DEVELOPMENT 233 - LEAVE - EDUCATION - STAFF DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS Transfer of Function	22 22 22 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 24 24 24 24 24 24 24 24
28.03 28.04 28.05 28.06 ARTICLE 29.01 29.02 29.03 ARTICLE 30.01 30.02 30.03 30.04 30.05 ARTICLE 31.01 32.01 32.02 ARTICLE	Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child Leave Respecting Death of Child Compassionate Care Leave Donor Leave 2 29 — COURT LEAVE	22 22 22 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 23 24

ARTICLE 34 — LEAVE FOR CONFERENCES AND CONVENTIONS	25
ARTICLE 35 – INDIGENOUS LEAVE	26
ARTICLE 36 — DISCIPLINE AND DISMISSAL	
36.01	
36.02	
36.03	
36.04	26
36.05	
ARTICLE 37— TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT BY EMPLOYEE	27
37.01	27
37.02	27
37.03	27
ARTICLE 38 — SENIORITY	27
38.01	27
38.02	27
38.03	
38.04	
38.05	
38.06	
38.07 Employment in Excluded Positions	
ARTICLE 39 — STATEMENT OF DUTIES/JOB DESCRIPTIONS AND CLASSIFICATIONS	
39.01	
39.02	
39.03	
39.03	
39.05	
S9.05	
40.01	
ARTICLE 41 — REGISTRATION	
ARTICLE 41 — REGISTRATION ARTICLE 42 — FILLING AND POSTING VACANCIES	
42.01	
42.02	
42.03	
42.04 Temporary Appointments	
43.01	
45.01	
44.01	
44.02	
44.03	
44.04	
44.05	
ARTICLE 45 — CASUAL EMPLOYEES	
45.01 Definition	
45.02 Wages	
45.03 Benefit Entitlement	
ARTICLE 46 — STAFF EVALUATION	
46.01	
46.02	
46.03	
ARTICLE 47 — TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	
47.01 Technological Change Means	31

47.02	31
ARTICLE 48 — LAYOFF AND RECALL	32
48.01	
48.02	
48.03	
48.04	
48.05	
48.06	
48.07	
48.08	
48.09	
ARTICLE 49 — HARASSMENT AND DISCRIMINATION	
ARTICLE 47 — HARASSIMENT AND DISCRIMINATION ARTICLE 50 — OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY	
50.01 Statutory Compliance	
50.02 Occupational Health and Safety Committee	
50.02 Occupational Health and Safety Committee	
ARTICLE 51 — USE OF PERSONAL VEHICLE ON BAND BUSINESS	
51.01	
51.02 ARTICLE 52 — PENSION PLAN	
ARTICLE 52 — PENSION PLAN ARTICLE 53 — EDUCATION	
53.01 Education Allowance	
ARTICLE 54 — HEALTH CARE PLANS ARTICLE 55 — WAGES ADMINISTRATION	
55.01	
55.02	
55.03	
55.04	
55.05 Increments	
55.06 Previous Experience	37
ARTICLE 56 – PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILTY CLAUSE	
56.01	
56.02	
56.03	
ARTICLE 57 - ORIENTATION AND TRAINING	
ARTICLE 58 — TERM OF AGREEMENT	40
APPENDIX A	
WAGE SCALE.	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 1	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 2 LETTER OF AGREEMENT	
FOOT CARE MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING	
EARLY SAFE RETURN TO WORK	
MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT	
Re: Psychological Health and Safety in the Workplace	
DUES AND DEDUCTIONS	
סבוס אווסדרטטענועניא איייא איייא אייייא אייייייייייייייי	40

ARTICLE 1 — DEFINITIONS

1.01 For the purpose of this Agreement

"**Certification**" means the certificate awarded by the Canada Labour Relations Board to the British Columbia Nurses' Union April 6, 2001.

"Union" means the British Columbia Nurses' Union.

"Union Representative" means a member of the staff of the Union or designated substitute.

"**Steward**" means a Bargaining Unit employee employed by the Employer elected or appointed by employees to represent the Union and its members.

"Employer" means the Tsartlip Band Council.

"Calendar Year" means a period of twelve (12) consecutive months commencing on the first day of January.

"Year" means a period from any given date in one (1) month to the immediately preceding date twelve (12) months later.

"**Transfer**" means the movement of an employee from one position or place to another which does not constitute a promotion or demotion.

"Promotion" means a change from an employee's position to a higher paid position.

"Demotion" means a change from an employee's position to a lower paid position.

"Tsartlip Health Centre" means the community services centre that the majority of community programs are housed.

"**Membership Dues**" means the dues established pursuant to the by-laws and regulations of the Union.

"Full Time Employee" means an employee who works full time on a regularly scheduled basis.

"**Part Time Employee**" means an employee who works less than full time on a regularly scheduled basis.

"Casual Employee" means an employee who works on an as and when needs basis.

1.02

In this Agreement, words importing the feminine gender shall include the masculine gender except where the context of the Article does not permit such inclusion.

ARTICLE 2 — PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT

2.01

The purpose of the Agreement is to maintain harmonious and mutually beneficial relationships between the Employer, the employees and between the Union and the Employer, to set forth certain terms and conditions of employment relating to remuneration, hours of work, employee benefits and general working conditions affecting employees covered by this Agreement.

2.02

The Employer and the Union share a desire to improve the quality of service to the Tsartlip people and people in the area and to promote the well being and to increase efficiency of its employees in order that the Tsartlip people and the people in the area will be well and effectively served.

2.03 Recognition of Objectives and Principles

The Employer and the Union acknowledge and recognize the following mutual objectives and principles:

- A) the enduring interest of the Employer is to protect and enhance the community programs and services for the Tsartlip people and people in the area in accordance with the culture, values, customs and traditions of the Tsartlip people;
- B) as an employer, the Employer strives to provide reasonable process and equitable working conditions for its staff that are consistent with the provisions of the highest quality of services for the Tsartlip people and the people in the area; and
- C) the authority and provision of community services by the Employer is subject to the authority, restrictions, funding limitations and obligations of the First Nations Health Authority, Island Health Authority, Provincial Government, Federal Government and *Indian Act*.

ARTICLE 3 — UNION RECOGNITION

3.01

The Employer recognizes the Union as the exclusive bargaining agent for all employees for whom the Union has been certified.

3.02

This Agreement applies to all employees of the Employer who are included within the Bargaining Unit for which the Union is a certified bargaining agent.

ARTICLE 4 — UNION SECURITY

All employees covered by the certification shall become members of the Union and shall maintain membership in good standing in the Union as a condition of continuing employment.

ARTICLE 5 — UNION DUES & DEDUCTIONS

5.01

All employees who are covered by the Certificate of Bargaining Authority shall, as a condition of continuing employment, authorize a deduction from their pay cheques of the amount of the dues levies and assessments payable to the Union by a member of the Union. The Employer shall provide a copy of the authorization form, which has been forwarded by the Union, to each new employee.

5.02

Upon receipt of written notice from the Union, the Employer shall terminate the services of any employee who does not authorize the deduction as above only after consultation with the employee and Union.

5.03

The Employer agrees to deduct the amount of the Union dues, levies and assessments payable to the Union by an employee in the Union's bargaining unit.

5.04

The Union shall inform the Employer in writing of the amount to be deducted from each employee. The Union shall advise the Employer in writing sixty (60) calendar days in advance of any change in the amount to be deducted.

5.05

The Employer shall remit such dues, levies and assessments to the Union within twenty-eight (28) calendar days from the date of deduction, together with a written statement containing the names of the employees for whom the deductions were made and the amount of each deduction.

5.06

The Employer shall supply each employee, without charge, a receipt for income tax purposes shown on the T4 slip in the amount of the deductions paid to the Union by the employee in the previous year. Such receipts shall be provided to the employee prior to March 1 of the succeeding year.

5.07

Deductions, for dues levies and assessments shall be a percentage of wages as set out in Schedule 2.

ARTICLE 6 — UNION RIGHTS AND ACTIVITIES

6.01

The Employer agrees not to enter into any agreement or contract with employees covered by this Agreement individually or collectively which conflicts with the terms and provisions of this Agreement.

6.02 Stewards

A) The Employer recognizes employees who are designated by the Union as stewards to act on behalf of employees. The Union shall supply the Employer with a list of names of the stewards

and alternate and shall advise, in writing, the Employer of changes in that list.

B) Duties and Responsibilities

The duties of stewards include, but are not limited to, the following:

- (1) Investigating complaints of an urgent matter, and
- (2) Investigating grievances, and
- (3) Assisting employees in preparing and presenting a grievance in accordance with the grievance procedures, and
- (4) Supervising ballot boxes and other related functions during ratification votes, and
- (5) Attending meetings called by management, and
- (6) Accompanying an employee, at her request, at a meeting called by the Employer, where disciplinary action is anticipated, and
- (7) Meeting with new employees during orientation program, and
- (8) Acting as appointees to the Union/Management Committee, and
- (9) Assisting employees with workload concerns, and
- (10) Assisting employees with profession practice concerns.

6.03

Subject always to the operational requirements of the Employer stewards shall be entitled to a reasonable time while working, without loss of regular pay and benefits, to perform Union duties when they:

- i) Have received prior consent from the Employer or the designate before leaving their work area, and such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld;
- ii) Make every endeavour to complete their Union business in as short a time as possible; and
- iii) Advise the Employer or designate upon their return to work.

6.04

The Union shall inform the Employer or designate in advance when the designated representatives of the Union intend to visit the Employer's premises for the purpose of conducting Union business. Such visit shall not interfere with the normal operations of the Health Centre.

6.05

The Employer shall provide the Union with a list of any new or terminated employees.

6.06

A) Employees are entitled to read and review their personnel file, and shall be entitled to inspect their performance evaluations, letters of reprimand or discipline. Upon reasonable notice employees may request copies of any or all such documents. The Employer agrees that no personnel files or documents on employees shall be kept outside the personnel file apart from payroll or health services files.

B) Union Representative or Steward Access

A Union representative or steward shall, upon written authority of the employee, be entitled to read and review an employee's personnel file in order to facilitate the investigation of a grievance. Upon request, the Union representative or steward shall be given copies of all such pertinent documents.

C) Confidential Nature of Personnel File

All documents within an employee's personnel file are considered to be confidential and shall remain within the sole jurisdiction and purview of the Employer and employee unless otherwise stipulated in this Agreement.

6.07 Copies of the Collective Agreement

The Union and the Employer agree that every employee should be familiar with the provisions of this Agreement and her rights and obligations under it. For this reason, the Employer shall make available copies of the Collective Agreement in booklet form to all of its employees. The Union will print the Collective Agreement and the cost will be shared equally.

6.08 New Employees

At the time of hire, the Employer agrees to acquaint new employees with the fact that the Collective Agreement is in effect setting out the conditions of employment. The Employer further agrees to provide new employees with the names of the stewards.

A steward shall be advised of the date, time and place of orientation sessions for new employees in order that a steward shall be given an opportunity to talk in person or by telephone to new employees. Stewards will be advised of the names of the new employees hired. There shall be no deduction of wages and benefits because of time spent by the steward during these sessions.

6.09 Records Removed

Upon request of the employee, all record of disciplinary action taken by the Employer shall, with the exception of suspensions, be removed from the employee's file and destroyed twelve (12) months after the date of the incident. Record of suspensions will remain on file for a period of eighteen (18) months following the expiry of suspension.

Letters of Expectation

Upon request of the employee, a letter of expectation shall be removed from the employee's file and destroyed twelve (12) months after the date of the letter. The foregoing provision applies provided that the behaviour or conduct that resulted in the letter of expectation being issued has not reoccurred within the intervening period.

6.10 Leave for Union Matters

Grievance Meetings

Where operational requirements permit, the Employer will grant an employee, upon request, who has presented a grievance, leave with pay to attend a grievance meeting or conference call held in the centre where such employee works.

Arbitration Hearings

When operational requirements permit, the Employer will grant leave with pay to an employee, including a Shop Steward, to attend an arbitration hearing concerning his or her grievance and the Union shall reimburse the Employer for such pay.

ARTICLE 7 — STEWARDS TRAINING COURSES

Where operational requirements permit, the Employer will grant leave without pay not exceeding five (5) consecutive days, to employees appointed as Stewards by the Union to undertake training sponsored by the Union related to the duties of a Steward. Article 8.02 is applicable.

ARTICLE 8 — CONTRACT NEGOTIATIONS AND PREPARATORY MEETINGS

8.01

The Employer will grant leave for designated employees or alternate to attend Union Committee preparatory contract meetings and contract negotiations meetings between the Union and the Employer. Subject to operational requirements, leave may be granted to an additional employee to attend negotiation meetings with the Employer on occasion, in special circumstances.

8.02

The Employer will grant such leave with pay and the Union will reimburse the Employer for such pay upon receipt of the Employer's invoice. The Union will be responsible for paying all travel and accommodation expenses incurred by such employee.

ARTICLE 9 — UNION BUSINESS or PUBLIC DUTIES

9.01

If and when an employee ever holds the position of full time president or Council Member with the Union they shall be granted a leave of absence without pay for the period during which they hold the position.

Such leave will not affect the employee's seniority, increment anniversary date, service for the purpose of vacation leave, and sick leave accumulation. The Employer will pay for any benefits while the employee is on leave and the Union will reimburse the Employer for the costs of benefits.

9.02

The employee shall be entitled to return to her former position or a similar position with the Employer and shall be provided with an adequate period of orientation upon her return to work.

9.03

The employee shall not be subject to discipline by the Employer for activities related to work on behalf of the Union.

9.04 Members

An employee on an unpaid Union leave of absence shall have her wages, benefits and seniority continued by the Employer, and the Union agrees to reimburse the Employer for the costs of such wages and benefits.

Employees requesting leave under this article will provide the Employer with as much advance notice as possible of the dates of the leave.

A leave of absence without pay shall be granted to an employee who is a member of the Union and who is:

- A) either elected or appointed to the Union and/or a region at annual or special conventions of the Union;
- B) appointed or elected to special or standing committees of the Union.

Such leave will not affect the employee's seniority, increment anniversary date, service for the

purpose of vacation leave, sick leave and special leave accumulation. The Employer will continue to pay the premiums for medical, dental, extended health, group life and LTD while the employee is on leave and the Union will reimburse the Employer for the costs of such benefits.

The employee shall be entitled to return to her former position with the Employer, and shall be provided with an adequate period of orientation upon her return to work.

The employee shall not be subject to discipline by the Employer for activities related to work on behalf of the Union.

Definitions

"Aboriginal Community Government" means an Indian Band Council duly constituted under the federal Indian Act or an aboriginal, or Métis governing body authorized under the terms of a treaty duly ratified by the provincial and/or federal governments or federal legislated self-government arrangements.

9.05

The Employer shall grant, on written request, leave of absence without pay:

- (1) for employees to seek election in the Municipal, Provincial, or Federal or Aboriginal Community Government Election;
- (2) for employees elected to a public office for a maximum period of five years.

ARTICLE 10 - CONTRACTING OUT

The Employer agrees not to contract out bargaining unit work that will result in the layoff or reduction of hours for employees within the bargaining unit during the term of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 11 — MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

11.01

The Management of the Employer's business and the direction of the employees including hiring, firing, promotion, demotion and transfer of employees and all other functions, powers and authority of the Employer is vested exclusively in the Employer, except as may be otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement.

ARTICLE 12 — BAND POLICIES

12.01

The Union agrees that all employees shall be governed by the existing rules or policies adopted by the Employer and published to employees on notice boards or by general distribution, provided such rules or policies are not in conflict with this Agreement.

ARTICLE 13 — BAND BUSINESS

13.01

An employee required by the Employer to attend meetings or to attend hearings or to sit on a committee established by the Employer shall continue to receive her wages for the time period as required. If after attending such meetings or hearings the employee is subsequently unable to report for work during part or all of her normal working hours, because of weather delays or other delays beyond the control of the employee and the Employer, such employee shall be deemed to have worked during such time and will receive her straight time pay. In no event shall overtime be payable in the above circumstances of delay.

13.02

The Employer will reimburse the employee for all expenses including reasonable travel time incurred by the employee during the time periods referred to in Article 13.01 above.

ARTICLE 14 — BULLETIN BOARDS

14.01

The Employer will provide a bulletin board space for Union use, at suitable locations accessible to employees agreed to by the Employer and the Union. Information relating to Union affairs, and social events may be posted.

ARTICLE 15 - NO STRIKE/LOCKOUT DURING THE TERM OF AGREEMENT

15.01

During the term of this Agreement the Union agrees that there will be no strike, or job action which constitutes a strike, and the Employer agrees that there shall be no lockout of its employees bound by this Agreement.

15.02

Subject to any Canada Industrial Relations Board (or its successor) directives or orders if any employee employed under the terms of this Collective Agreement refuses in good conscience to cross a legal picket line, the employee shall be considered to be absent without pay, and it shall not be considered a violation of this Agreement nor shall it be grounds for disciplinary action.

ARTICLE 16 — UNION/MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

16.01

A Union/Management Committee shall be established. The Employer and the Union shall each appoint a maximum of two (2) to the Committee.

16.02

The Chairmanship of the Union/Management Committee shall alternate between an Employer representative and a representative of the Union.

16.03

Meetings of the Committee shall be held at the call of the Chair at a time mutually agreed and as promptly as possible upon request in writing of either party. Meetings shall occur at the call of the Chair and not more than once each month.

16.04

In order to foster better relations between the parties, the purpose of the Committee shall be to discuss matters of mutual concern including matters pertaining to the program services and workload concerns. The Committee shall have the power to make recommendations to the Union and to the Employer.

16.05

The Committee shall not have the power to bind the Union or its members, or the Employer to any decision or conclusion reached in discussion.

The Committee shall not have jurisdiction over any matter contained in the Collective Agreement, including its administration or renegotiations.

The Committee shall not supersede the activities of any other committee of the Union or of the Employer.

Stewards who attend Union/Management Committee meetings outside of scheduled work hours shall be paid at straight time rates for time spent at the meetings.

ARTICLE 17 — GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

17.01

If any differences arise between the Employer and an employee or employees or between the Employer and the Union concerning the interpretation, application or any alleged violation of the Agreement, such differences shall be settled without stoppage of work and all employees including the employee(s) concerned in any such differences, shall continue to work in accordance with the Agreement until the difference is settled.

17.02

The following procedures shall be used for the resolution of differences.

STEP 1

Within fifteen (15) calendar days after the occurrence or within fifteen (15) calendar days after the employee first becomes aware of the alleged violation giving rise to the difference the employee shall with or without a Union representative (at the employee's choice) submit a written grievance to the Employer or designate.

Within twenty (20) calendar days from the delivery of the written grievance, the Employer or designate shall give a written response to the employee and the Union representative.

STEP 2

If the grievance is not satisfactorily settled under Step 1 then the Union shall, within fifteen (15) calendar days after receipt of the Step 1 written response hold a meeting, and discuss the grievance with the Employer or their designate. Within ten (10) calendar days after that meeting, the

Employer or designate shall deliver a written response to the Union and if the grievance is denied, such response shall give reasons for the denial.

Where the Union or Employer submits a policy or general grievance, such grievance will be in writing and will be submitted under Step 1 and dealt with in accordance with the provisions of Step 1.

17.03 Time Limits

If the time limits set out in Steps 1 and 2 above are not complied with by the employee(s) or Union, then the grievance shall be considered to have been abandoned unless the parties have mutually agreed in writing to extend the time limits.

17.04 Industry Troubleshooter

Unless mutually agreed otherwise, disputes may be referred to the Industry Troubleshooter only after the completion of Step 2 of the grievance procedure. Where a difference arises between the parties relating to the dismissal, discipline, or suspension of an employee, or to the interpretation, application, operation, or alleged violation of this Agreement, including any question as to whether a matter is arbitrable, during the term of this Collective Agreement, a Troubleshooter agreed to by the parties, shall at the request of either party:

- a) investigate the difference,
- b) define the issue in the difference, and
- c) make written recommendations to resolve the difference, within five (5) days of the date of receipt of the request, and for those five (5) days from that date, time does not run in respect of the grievance procedure.

In the event the parties are unable to agree on any Industry Troubleshooter within a period of thirty (30) days, either party may apply to the Minister of Labour to appoint a mediator pursuant to Section 15 of Part One of the Canada Labour Code.

Failing settlement at this step, the grievance may be referred to arbitration.

ARTICLE 18 — ARBITRATION

18.01

If a grievance is not resolved through the procedure in Article 17 – Grievance Procedure, either party may within sixty (60) calendar days after Step 2 above has been completed submit the grievance to an arbitrator mutually acceptable to both parties.

18.02

If either party fails to agree to appoint a sole arbitrator within the thirty (30) day period, either party may request the Minister to make such appointment.

18.03

The arbitrator shall issue a decision which may be decision of the majority and the decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding upon the parties.

18.04

Each party will be responsible for its own expenses in presenting its case to the arbitrator. The expenses of the arbitrator or the chair of the arbitration board shall be shared equally by the parties.

18.05

No decision of an arbitrator shall amend or alter the terms of this Agreement.

18.06

By agreement the parties may abridge the time requirements of Article 17 – Grievance Procedure and may submit any difference or dispute to arbitration on an expedited basis.

18.07

The time limits in this article may be extended by written agreement of the parties.

ARTICLE 19 — HOURS OFWORK

19.01

The normal work week shall be thirty-five (35) hours and the normal work day shall be seven (7.0) consecutive hours, exclusive of a meal period of one (1) hour between the hours of 8:30 a.m. and 4:30 p.m., or a mutually agreed equivalent.

19.02

An employee shall be granted two (2) consecutive days of rest during each seven (7) day period subject to operational requirements.

19.03

Subject to operational requirements, one (1) rest period of fifteen (15) minutes in each half of the work day shall be provided.

19.04 Flexible Hours

- A) The parties recognize the particular and unique needs of community based services and that the provision of such services cannot always be predicted accurately in advance.
- B) The parties agree that the start and finish times for the program staff may be adjusted fourteen (14) days in advance by mutual agreement of the Employer and the Employee as program needs arise provided the Employee shall not work more than seven (7) hours per day. The overtime provisions of Article 20 shall apply to any hours worked over thirty-five (35) hours in one week and any schedule change without fourteen (14) days prior notice.
- C) The parties agree there will be no split shifts.

ARTICLE 20 — OVERTIME

20.01 Definitions

A) "Overtime" means work performed in excess of the normal daily hours or weekly hours outline in Article 19 – Hours of Work.

- B) "Straight-time rate" means the hourly rate of pay.
- C) "Time and one-half" means one and one-half time $(1\frac{1}{2}x)$ the straight-time rate of pay.
- D) "Double time" means two times (2 x) the straight-time rate of pay.

20.02 Overtime Pay

All overtime worked by an employee shall only be paid if authorized in advance by the employer. Employees requested to work in excess of the normal daily hours as outlined in Article 19 or who are requested to work on their scheduled off-duty days, shall be paid:

A) the rate of time and one-half $(1\frac{1}{2}x)$ of their basic hourly rate of pay for the first two (2) hours of overtime on a scheduled work day and double time (2 x) thereafter.

20.03 Overtime on Day Off

Employees required to work on a scheduled day off shall receive the overtime rate as provided but shall not have the day off rescheduled.

20.04 Overtime on Paid Holiday

If an employee works overtime on a paid holiday which calls for a premium rate of pay as provided in Article 21.04, the employee shall be paid overtime at the rate of time and one-half times $(1\frac{1}{2}x)$ the premium paid holiday rate for all hours worked beyond the normal daily full shift hours.

20.05 Overtime Pay

Overtime pay shall be paid to the employee at the end of the following pay period in which the overtime was earned except as provided in Article 20.06 below.

20.06 Compensating Time Off

At the time an employee is required or requested to work overtime, the employee may opt for compensating time off at the applicable overtime rate in lieu of overtime pay. If an employee opts for compensating time off in lieu of overtime pay, the time shall be taken at a time mutually agreed to by the employee and the Employer and shall be taken within twenty-four (24) calendar weeks of the occurrence of the overtime subject to the Employer's operational requirements. The Employer will make a reasonable effort to allow time off when requested by the employee. If such time off is not taken by the end of the twenty-four (24) week period, overtime at the applicable overtime rate shall be paid on the employee's next regular pay cheque.

20.07 Overtime for Part time Employees

- A) A part time employee working less than the normal hours per day of a full time employee, and who is requested to work longer than her regularly scheduled work days, shall be paid at the rate of straight-time for the hours so worked, up to and including the normal hours in the work day of a full time employee.
- B) A part time employee working less than the normal days per week of a full time employee, and who is requested to work other than her regularly scheduled work days, shall be paid at the rate of straight-time for the days so worked, up to and including the normal work days in the work week of a full time employee.
- C) Overtime rates shall apply to hours worked in excess of (A) and (B) above.

ARTICLE 21 — PAID HOLIDAYS

21.01 Paid Holidays

A) The following have been designated as paid holidays:

New Years' DayLabour DayGood FridayNational Day for Truth andEaster MondayReconciliationVictoria DayThanksgiving DayCanada DayRemembrance DayBritish Columbia DayChristmas DayBC Family DayBoxing DayAboriginal DayAboriginal Day

D) Any other holiday proclaimed by the Federal Government or the Government of the Province of British Columbia shall also be a paid holiday.

21.02 Holidays Falling on a Saturday or Sunday

For an employee whose work week is from Monday to Friday, and when any of the above noted holidays falls on a Saturday and is not proclaimed as being observed on some other day, the following Monday shall be deemed to be the holiday for the purpose of this Agreement; when a holiday falls on a Sunday and it is not proclaimed as being observed on some other day, the following Monday (or Tuesday, where the preceding holiday already applies to the Monday), shall be deemed to be the holiday for the purpose of this Agreement.

21.03 Holiday on a Day of Rest

- A) When a paid holiday falls on a regular full time employee's day of rest, the employee shall be entitled to a day off with pay in lieu of the holiday at a time agreed between the employee and the Employer or designate.
- B) If a regular full time employee is called in to work on the day designated as the lieu day pursuant to (A) above, they shall be compensated at the appropriate rate of pay for all hours worked.

21.04 Holiday Falling on a Scheduled Work Day

An employee who is required to work on a designated holiday shall be compensated at two (2) times of her straight time pay. Regular employees shall also receive an additional day off with pay in lieu of the holiday.

21.05 Holiday Coinciding with a Day of Vacation

Where an employee is on vacation leave and a day of paid holiday falls within that period, the paid holiday shall not count as a day of vacation.

21.06 Holiday Pay for Regular Part time Employees

Regular part time employees shall receive a day off with pay for each day in 21.01A).

21.07 Christmas Closure

Employees shall be entitled to leave with pay for the period in which the employer closes its office at the end of December to the beginning of January.

21.08 Scheduling of Lieu Days

Subject to the Employer's operational requirements reasonable effort will be made to schedule days off in lieu of holidays as an addition to the employee's regular days off, except where the employee and the Employer otherwise agree.

ARTICLE 22 — UNPAID LEAVE

An employee may request unpaid leave of absence. Requests for such leave of absence shall be made in writing to the Employer may be granted at the Employer's discretion and will not be unreasonably denied.

ARTICLE 23 — SICK LEAVE

23.01

An employee in their first year of employment shall earn sick leave credits at the rate of one and one quarter (1¼) days per month to a maximum of fifteen (15) days. Employees after their first year of employment shall be entitled to fifteen (15) days per annum of sick leave credits. Sick leave credits will not accrue to an employee who is on an approved leave of absence without pay. Any remaining sick leave credits as of December 31st of each year shall be carried over to the next year at 100% to a maximum of forty-five (45) days.

Employees who leave or retire will be paid out at a rate of fifty (50%) percent of the remaining sick leave credits.

23.02

An employee shall be granted sick leave with pay when they are unable to perform their duties due to illness or injury, provided they have sick leave credits available. A physician's note may be required after three (3) days of illness or injury.

23.03

When an employee is granted sick leave with pay, and WCB is subsequently approved for the same period by WCB, it shall be considered for the purposed of the record of sick leave credits that the employee was not granted sick leave with pay.

23.04

Where an employee has insufficient or no credits to cover her sick leave with pay, an advance in pay may be granted at the discretion of the Employer. If the employee leaves the employment of the Employer within one (1) year after such advance granted by the Employer, the Employer may recover such pay advance from any monies owed to the employee by the Employer.

23.05

An employee shall not be granted sick leave with pay when under suspension or on a leave of absence without pay, unless agreed to by the parties.

23.06 Short Term Illness and Injury Plan (STIIP)

A) The Employer will arrange for an insurance carrier to provide eligible employees with a Short Term Illness and Injury Plan (STIIP).

- B) The STIIP shall have the following characteristics:
 - (1) STIIP benefits will commence starting on the first day in the event of an injury or hospitalization, and on the fourteenth (14) day in the event of illness.
 - (2) STIIP benefits will be as follows: 66.67% of weekly salary, for a period not to exceed seventeen (17) weeks.
- C) The 66.67% benefit may be supplemented up to one hundred per cent (100%) at the request of the employee, by the use of the following:
 - (1) sick leave
 - (2) compensatory time-off
 - (3) vacation entitlement
- D) Costs of the premium will be fifty percent (50%) Employer paid and fifty percent (50%) employee paid.

ARTICLE 24 — VACATION LEAVE

24.01

Employees shall be entitled to vacation leave.

24.02

Any employees who are employed for less than one (1) year shall be paid four (4) percent of her gross income as vacation pay. A full time employee with more than one (1) year continuous employment shall earn vacation leave credits as follows:

12 work days after 1 year of continuous service 12 work days after 2 years of continuous service 14 work days after 3 years of continuous service 17 work days after 4 years of continuous service 18 work days after 5 years of continuous service 19 work days after 6 years of continuous service 21 work days after 7 years of continuous service 22 work days after 8 years of continuous service 23 work days after 9 years of continuous service 24 work days after 10 years of continuous service

Effective January 1, 2021, add two (2) days of vacation for each year of service over 10 years of continuous service to a maximum of forty (40) work days.

Effective January 1, 2022, add one (1) day of vacation to each of the above.

24.03

Regular part time employees shall have the above vacation entitlement pro-rated based on hours worked. An employee is entitled to vacation leave with pay to the extent of her earned credits but an employee who has completed her first three (3) months of continuous employment may receive an advance of credits equivalent to the anticipated credits for the vacation year.

24.04

Employees shall receive their regular pay during their respective vacation entitlement days.

24.05

An Employee may carry over up to five (5) days vacation per vacation year.

24.06

Should a paid holiday referred to in Article 21.01- Paid Holidays occur during any employee's annual vacation, the employee shall take that holiday immediately following the completion of her vacation in which the holiday occurred.

24.07 Scheduling of Vacation

The Employer shall permit annual vacations to be taken during the entire year subject to seniority and operational requirements. Once the approved vacation schedule has been posted, it shall only be changed by mutual consent.

The employee's first choice will be reviewed and approved in order of seniority. The Employer will then review and approve the employee's second choice in order of seniority.

Employees who want to take vacation during the months of January 1 to June 30 must submit a written request no later than December 1 preceding vacation. The Employer will respond no later than December 15.

Employees who want to take vacation during the months of July 1 to December 31 must submit a written request no later than May 1 preceding vacation. The Employer will respond no later than May 15.

24.08

Once the approved vacation schedule has been posted, it shall only be changed by mutual consent.

24.09

Vacation time may be divided and shall be scheduled at a time agreed to by the Employer and the employee, provided, however, that an employee who splits her vacation shall not receive an option as to when they wish to take the subsequent portion of her vacation until all the other employees of the Employer under this Agreement have made their first choice and second choice of vacation time.

24.10

In the event that an Employee is sick or injured prior to the commencement of her vacation, such Employee shall be granted sick leave and the vacation period, so displaced, shall be added to the vacation period if requested by the Employee and by mutual agreement, or shall be reinstated for use at a later date.

ARTICLE 25 — BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

25.01

Bereavement leave of absence with pay shall be granted, upon request, to regular employees in the event of a death of a parent, spouse (including common-law), child, step child, adopted child, foster

child who has lived with the foster parent for a period exceeding 1 year, legal guardian or ward, parent, step parent, brother, sister, mother-in-law, father-in-law, grandparents, grandchild, nephews, nieces, cousins and a relative permanently residing in the employee's household or with whom the employee permanently resides.

25.02

Such leave will be granted as follows:

Up to five (5) working days in any calendar year.

25.03

Additional leave without pay may be requested by an employee. The Employer shall make every effort to grant additional bereavement leave of absence without pay.

25.04

If an employee is on vacation leave at the time of bereavement, the employee shall be granted bereavement leave consistent with Article 25.02 and shall be credited the appropriate number of days to vacation leave credits.

ARTICLE 26 — PARENTAL LEAVE

26.01 Natural Mother

A) Maternity Leave

An employee shall be granted seventeen (17) weeks maternity leave of absence without pay. Such leave may commence thirteen (13) weeks prior to the expected date of birth. The maternity leave shall commence immediately upon the birth if it occurs prior to the timeline outlined above. In no case shall an employee be required to return to work sooner than six (6) weeks following the birth or the termination of her pregnancy unless a shorter time is requested by the employee and granted by the Employer.

i) Benefits

- (1) for the first twenty (20) work days of such leave, the employee shall be entitled to the benefits under Article 22 Unpaid Leave.
- (2) for the balance the service of an employee who is on maternity leave shall be considered continuous for the purpose of any pension, medical, or other benefit plans available to the employee and the Employer shall continue to make payment to the plans in the same manner as if the employee was not absent.

B) Maternity Leave - Special Circumstances

An employee is entitled to up to six (6) additional consecutive weeks of unpaid leave if, for reasons related to the birth or the termination of the pregnancy, they are unable to return to work when their leave ends under 26.01. (see Parental Leave 26.02 B)).

C) Parental Leave

Leave period granted under Article 26.01 (A), may be followed by sixty-one (61) weeks parental leave. Parents shall determine the apportionment of sixty-two (62) weeks (or sixty – one (61) consecutive weeks in the case of birth mother who takes maternity leave under article 26.01) parental leave between them.

i) Benefits

The service of an employee who is on parental leave shall be considered continuous for the purpose of any pension, medical, or other benefit plans available to the employee and the Employer shall continue to make payment to the plans in the same manner as if the employee was not absent.

D) Parental Leave - Special Circumstances

- (1) Upon request, an employee shall be granted up to five (5) additional weeks of parental leave without pay if a medical practitioner Midwife or Nurse Practitioner certifies that an additional period of parental care is required because the child suffers from a physical, psychological or emotional condition.
- (2) An employee's combined entitlement to leave under subsection (A), (B), (C) and (D) is limited to eighty-nine weeks.

E) Additional Leave

Any further leave granted beyond the eighty-nine (89) weeks will be unpaid leave without any benefits.

- F) Medical complications of pregnancy, including complications during an unpaid leave of absence for maternity reasons, preceding the period stated by the Employment Insurance Act shall be accommodated or covered by sick leave provisions (Article 23 – Sick Leave) providing the employee is not in receipt of maternity benefits under the Employment Insurance Act or any wage loss replacement plan.
- G) An employee shall make every effort to give four (4) weeks notice prior to the commencement of maternity leave of absence and at one (1) month notice of her intention to return to work prior to the termination of the leave of absence.
- H) The Employer may require the employee to provide a doctor's, Nurse Practitioner or Midwife certificate indicating the employee's general condition during pregnancy and the expected date of birth.
- I) The Employer shall not terminate an employee or change a condition of her employment because of the employee's pregnancy or her absence for maternity reasons.

26.02

A) Parental Leave

On request the parent that did not take maternity leave (26.01) following the adoption, or the birth of the child or children may apply for up to sixty-two (62) weeks parental leave without pay.

i) **Benefits**

- (1) For the first twenty (20) work days of such leave, the employee shall be entitled to the benefits under Article 22 Unpaid Leave.
- (2) The service of an employee who is on parental leave shall be considered continuous for the purpose of any pension, medical, or other benefit plans available to the employee, and the Employer shall continue to make payment to the plans in the same manner as if the employee was not absent.

B) Parental Leave - Special Circumstances

Upon request, a regular employee shall be granted up to five (5) additional weeks of parental

leave without pay if a medical practitioner, midwife, nurse practitioner certifies that an additional period of parental care is required because the child suffers from a physical, psychological or emotional condition. The maximum parental leave is sixty-seven (67) weeks and must conclude within seventy-eight (78) week period after the birth date or adoption of the child.

i) Benefits

The service of an employee who is on parental leave shall be considered continuous for the purpose of any pension, medical, or benefit plans available to the employee, and the Employer shall continue to make payment to the plans in the same manner as if the employee was not absent.

C) Additional Leave

Any further leave granted beyond the sixty-seven (67) weeks will be unpaid leave without any benefits.

26.03 Allowances

A) Maternity Leave Allowance

- a) An employee who qualifies for maternity leave pursuant to Article 26.01, shall be paid a maternity leave allowance in accordance with the Supplemental Employment Benefit (SEB) Plan. In order to receive this allowance, the employee must provide to the Employer, proof that she has applied for and is eligible to receive employment insurance benefits pursuant to the *Employment Insurance Act*. An employee who is not eligible for, or is disentitled to, employment insurance benefits is entitled to the full amount of allowance under the SEB Plan only under the following circumstances:
 - i) the employee does not have a sufficient number of insurable weeks of employment to qualify (at least 20 weeks); or
 - ii) the employee works less than the required number of hours (15 hours per week); or
 - iii) the employee's earnings are at least equal to 20% of the maximum weekly insurable earnings.
- b) Pursuant to the Supplemental Benefit (SEB) Plan, the maternity leave allowance will consist of:
 - (1) One (1) week at eighty-seven (87%) percent of the employee's basic pay to cover the waiting period;
 - (2) Sixteen (16) additional weekly payments equivalent to the difference between the employment insurance gross benefits and any other earnings received by the employee and eighty-seven (87%) percent of the employee's basic pay.

Note: For the purpose of Article 26 only, "Basic Pay" is defined as the employee's weekly earnings based on the rate of pay (in accordance with the applicable wage schedule) and the employee's regular schedule.

B) Parental Leave

a) An employee who qualifies for parental leave pursuant to Article 26.02, shall be paid a parental leave allowance in accordance with the Supplemental Employment Benefit (SEB) Plan. In order to receive this allowance, the employee must provide to the Employer proof of application and eligibility to receive employment insurance benefits pursuant to the

Employment Insurance Act. An employee who is not eligible for, or is disentitled to, employment insurance benefits is entitled to the full amount of allowance under the SEB Plan only under the following circumstances:

- i) the employee does not have a sufficient number of insurable weeks of employment to qualify (at least 20 weeks); or
- ii) the employee works less than the required number of hours (15 hours per week); or
- iii) the employee's earnings are at least equal to 20% of the maximum weekly insurable earnings.
- b) Pursuant to the Supplemental Employment Benefit (SEB) Plan and subject to leave apportionment pursuant to Article 26.01 C), the parental leave allowance will consist of a maximum of ten (10) weekly payments, equivalent to the difference between the employment insurance gross benefits and any other earnings received by the employee, and eighty-seven (87%) percent of the employee's basic pay.

26.04

If, during the leave periods granted under this Article 26 the affected employee fails to maintain her share of the monthly pension contributions, then the pension benefit shall not accumulate during such leave period(s) pursuant to Section 209.2 of the Canada Labour Code, R.S.C. 1985 and any amendments.

26.05 Return to Employment

An employee resuming employment after a maternity, or parental leave of absence shall be reinstated in all respects to her previous position or to a comparable position with all increments to wages and benefits to which they would have been entitled during the period of her absence.

26.06 Bridging of Service

If a regular employee terminates as a result of a decision to raise a dependent child or children residing with the employee and applies for and receives a regular position with the Employer, the employee shall be credited with length of service accumulated at the time of termination.

The following conditions shall apply:

A) The employee must have completed three (3) years of service with the Employer.

- B) The resignation must indicate that the reason for termination is to raise a dependent child or children.
- C) The break in service shall be for no longer than three (3) years, and during that time the employee must not have been engaged in remunerative employment for more than six (6) months cumulative.
- D) This bridging of service will apply to an employee who is employed by the Employer and applies for and receives a regular position at the same worksite.
- E) The employee must serve a three (3) month probationary period.
- F) An employee returning to work under this clause shall retain their former increment level and years of service for vacation purposes.

26.07 Casual Employees

Casual employees shall not be required to be available for shifts for up to seventy-eight (78) weeks following the birth or adoption of a child pursuant to Article 26.01 and 26.02. Where the child has medical circumstances requiring continued care, the employee shall not be required to be available for work for up to an additional eleven (11) weeks pursuant to Article 26.01 B) or 26.02 C). The employer shall not terminate casual employment for the duration of this period as a result of this Article.

Where casual employees are unavailable for shifts as a result of this Article, the employee shall provide the Employer with notice consistent with Article 26.

ARTICLE 27 — PERSONAL LEAVE WITHOUT PAY

27.01

Leave without pay may be granted at the discretion of the Employer for personal reasons in the following manner:

- A) Subject to operational requirements, leave without pay for a period of up to three (3) months may be granted to an employee for personal needs.
- B) Subject to operational requirements, leave without pay of more than three (3) months but not exceeding one (1) year will be granted to an employee for personal needs.
- C) An employee may obtain leave without pay for personal needs only once under each of (A) and (B) of this Article during his/her total period of employment. Leave without pay granted under this Article may not be used in combination with maternity, paternity, or adoption leave without the consent of the Employer.
- D) The leave period without pay granted under subsection (B) of this Article shall be deducted from the calculation of "continuous employment" for the purpose of calculating seniority, severance pay, and vacation entitlement for the employee involved. Time spent on such leave shall not be counted for pay increment purposes.

27.02

The Employer may, at his/her discretion, grant leave for one (1) day without pay for employee personal reasons and the total leave granted under this Article shall not exceed three (3) days in any calendar year.

ARTICLE 28 — LEAVE FOR FAMILY-RELATED RESPONSIBILITIES

28.01

Effective April 1, 2021, subject to operational requirements, the Employer or designate, in her discretion may grant leave with pay to an employee for immediate family related or personal reasons not otherwise provided for in this Agreement. The Employer shall make every effort to approve the leave requested. The total leaves granted under this Article will not exceed six (6) days in any calendar year.

Effective April 1, 2022, subject to operational requirements, the Employer or designate, in her discretion may grant leave with pay to an employee for immediate family related or personal reasons not otherwise provided for in this Agreement. The Employer shall make every effort to approve the leave requested. The total leaves granted under this Article will not exceed seven (7) days in any calendar year.

28.02 Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence

The Employer shall grant an unpaid leave to a maximum of seventeen (17) weeks for reasons related to domestic or sexual violence. In the event that legislation enacts provisions with a greater entitlement to maximum weeks of leave related to domestic or sexual violence, that legislation provision shall prevail.

For the balance of the leave taken pursuant to this Article, the service of an employee shall be considered continuous for the purpose of any pension, medical or other plan beneficial to the employee, and the employer shall continue to make payment to the plans in the same manner as if the employee was not absent.

Casual employees shall not be required to be available for shifts for up to seventeen (17) weeks if the employee's unavailability is in relation to domestic or sexual violence.

28.03 Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child

An employee is entitled to a leave of absence without pay of up to fifty-two (52) weeks if they are entitled to leave respecting disappearance of child under the *Employment Standards Act* and such leave shall be in accordance with the *Employment Standards Act*. Notwithstanding Article 27 – Personal Leave Without Pay, there will be no interruption in the accrual of seniority or eligibility for benefits provided.

28.04 Leave Respecting Death of Child

An employee is entitled to a leave of absence without pay of up to 104 weeks if they are entitled to leave respecting death of child under the *Employment Standards Act* and such leave shall be in accordance with the *Employment Standards Act*. Notwithstanding Article 27 - Personal Leave without Pay, there will be no interruption in the accrual of seniority or eligibility for benefits provided.

28.05 Compassionate Care Leave

An employee who is entitled to compassionate care benefits under the *Employment Insurance Act* is entitled to a leave of absence without pay of up to the maximum set out in the *Employment Standards Act* for the purpose of providing care or support to a gravely ill family member at risk of dying within the period set out in the *Employment Standards Act*. If the family member does not die within the prescribed period, the employee may take further leave. The employee will be required to provide documentation to support their request for such leave. There will be no interruption in the accrual of seniority or benefits.

Employment Standards Act, compassionate care leave, includes an individual with a serious medical condition who is like a close relative to the employee, whether or not they are related by blood, adoption, marriage or common law partnership.

28.06 Donor Leave

The Employer and the Union recognize the importance for organ donors. An employee shall be granted the necessary leave of absence with pay for the purpose of donating bone marrow or an organ and recovery from such procedure.

Such leave will be without reduction in pension, medical or other plan beneficial to the employee, and the employer shall continue to make payment to the plans in the same manner as if the employee were not absent.

ARTICLE 29 — COURT LEAVE

29.01

Leave with pay shall be granted to any employee other than an employee already on leave without pay, on education leave, or under suspension, who is required to be available for jury selection or to serve on a jury, provided that such employee shall reimburse the Employer for all jury pay received by them for attending for jury selection or for serving on a jury.

29.02

Leave with pay shall be granted to any employee other than an employee already on leave without pay, on education leave, or under suspension, who is required by subpoena or summons to attend in any proceedings as a witness held in or under the authority of a court of justice or in any judicial proceedings. Any witness' fees received by the employee as a result of attending in such judicial process shall be remitted to the Employer.

29.03

This article does not apply to any employee who is a party to any court proceedings. Such employee shall be entitled to leave without pay to attend such proceedings.

ARTICLE 30 — LEAVE - WORKERS' COMPENSATION

30.01

An employee shall be granted Workers' Compensation leave with pay in the event that the Workers' Compensation Board determines that the employee has established a claim (time loss benefits) and they are unable to perform their duties by reason of the compensable injury which occurred while employed by the Employer. An employee shall be granted Workers' Compensation leave with net pay in the event that the Workers' Compensation Board determines that the employee has established a claim (time loss benefits) and they are unable to perform their duties by reason of the compensable injury which occurred while employed by the Employer. For the purposes of this clause, net pay is defined as the employee's regular net take-home wages to ensure that the non-taxable status of Workers' Compensation benefits does not provide an opportunity for an injured worker to earn more while on claim than if they were working. The term 'claim' will not include any form of Workers' Compensation Board allowance or pension, and this section will not be operative while an employee is receiving such a different form of payment from the Worker's Compensation Board arising from this claim.

30.02

The employee shall pay to the Employer any amount received for loss of wages in settlement of

any claims.

30.03

When an employee is on a WCB claim, all benefits of the Agreement will continue to accrue. However, an employee off work on a WCB claim shall receive wages and benefits equalling, but not to exceed, their normal entitlement had they not suffered a compensable injury. For the first twenty (20) work days on the claim, an employee will accrue paid holidays and vacation credits. Once the claim exceeds twenty (20) work days, paid holidays and vacation credits will not accrue. However, unused vacation credits accrued prior to the claim shall not be lost as result of this Article.

30.04

When an employee is granted sick leave with pay and Workers' Compensation leave is subsequently approved for the same period, it shall be considered for the purpose of the record of sick leave credits that the employee was not granted sick leave with pay.

30.05

Absence from work to attend emergency medical or dental appointments and medical appointments arising from work related accident covered by Workers' Compensation shall be paid for from the employee's accumulated sick leave.

ARTICLE 31 — EXAMINATION LEAVE

31.01

Leave with pay up to three (3) days to take examinations may be granted by the Employer to an employee who is not already on educational leave with proof of enrollment in a course of study. Such leave will be granted only where, in the opinion of the Employer, the course study is directly related to the employee's duties.

ARTICLE 32 — CAREER DEVELOPMENT

32.01

An employee may be granted education leave without pay for varying periods up to one (1) year, which can be renewed by mutual agreement, to attend a recognized institution for additional or special studies in some field of education for which special preparation is needed to enable her to fill her present role more adequately or to undertake studies in some field in order to provide a service which the Employer requires or is planning to provide.

32.02

If the employee, while on education leave, decides not to return after her leave period, they shall provide three (3) months notice to the Employer for its operational reasons.

ARTICLE 33 — LEAVE - EDUCATION - STAFF DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS

33.01 Transfer of Function

Where the Employer has agreed to a transfer of function, it will be the responsibility of the Employer to provide in-service programs/training to all employees required to perform the

function.

Employees required to attend such programs will be paid at the applicable rate of pay.

33.02 In-Service Programs

The parties to this Collective Agreement recognize the value of in-service education both to the employee and the Employer.

- A) The Employer reserves the right to identify specific in-service programs deemed compulsory.
- B) Employees required to attend such programs will be paid at the applicable rate of pay.

33.03 General Education Programs

A) Employer Requested Leave

An employee shall be granted leave with pay to take courses at the request of the Employer. The Employer shall bear the full cost of the course including tuition fees and course required books, necessary travelling and subsistence expenses. An employee shall provide proof of their attendance and completion of the course, otherwise the employee shall be required to reimburse the Employer for the costs of the course

B) Duration and Expenses

A regular employee shall be granted leave from scheduled work shifts without loss of pay, and reasonable expenses, to take courses where the Employer has approved an employee request to take such courses or where the Employer has offered such courses to the employees on an optional basis.

C) Employee Requested Leave

The Employer shall grant one (1) day's education leave of absence with pay, subject to the above approval, for each normally scheduled work day, as posted, that an individual regular employee gives of her own time.

D) Leave on Day Off

Should alterations of the normally scheduled work day be made by the Employer so that an employee's educational day off falls on an off-duty day, the employee shall be paid for that day and be given an additional day off.

E) The Employer shall provide or pay for Cultural Safety Training, First Aide Level C, Fit Testing and any other training deemed suitable by the Employer, for the work being down. (see article 53 - Education)

ARTICLE 34 — **LEAVE FOR CONFERENCES AND CONVENTIONS**

Subject to budgetary constraints and operational requirements, leaves of absence, without loss of pay, may be granted by the Employer for conferences and conventions not exceeding one week. The Employer shall endeavour to grant such leaves of absences. Employee agrees to provide at least thirty (30) days notice to the Employer whenever possible.

ARTICLE 35 – INDIGENOUS LEAVE

Aboriginal Leave Canada Labour Code

Leave for Traditional Aboriginal Practices (unpaid)

In this section, Aboriginal means Indian, Inuit or Métis. If you are an Aboriginal employee with at least three (3) months of continuous employment, you are entitled to take up to five (5) days of leave per calendar year.

You may take this leave in order to take part in traditional Aboriginal practices including:

- fishing
- hunting
- harvesting
- all practices prescribed by regulation

You can take your leave over more than one (1) period, however, your employer may require that each period be a least one (1) day. Your employer may request that you provide documentation demonstrating that you are Aboriginal. Your employer may request this up to fifteen (15) days after your return to work. You must provide supporting documents if it is possible to obtain and provide them.

The Code does not provide for paid leave for traditional Aboriginal practices.

ARTICLE 36 — DISCIPLINE AND DISMISSAL

36.01

The Employer shall not dismiss or discipline an employee except for just and reasonable cause. Notice of dismissal, or suspension, shall be in writing and shall set forth the reason for dismissal or suspension.

36.02

All dismissals, suspensions, and other disciplinary action may be grieved under the grievance procedure commencing at Step 2, Article 17 – Grievance Procedure. Written notice of any dismissal or suspension shall be sent to the Union within five (5) working days of the action being taken.

36.03

Where the Employer or their designate intends to interview an employee for disciplinary purposes, the Employer or designate must notify the employee in advance of the purpose of the interview and of the employee's right to have a steward present in order that the employee can exercise their right to contact their steward, providing this does not result in an undue delay of the appropriate action being taken.

36.04

Where the Employer or their designate intends to interview a steward for disciplinary purposes, the steward shall have the right, at the Union's expense, to consult with a Union Staff Representative or to have another steward or alternate present in person or by conference telephone call, providing this does not result in an undue delay of the appropriate action being taken.

36.05

This provision shall not apply to those discussions that are of an operational nature and do not involve disciplinary action.

ARTICLE 37— TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT BY EMPLOYEE

37.01

An employee shall deliver to the Employer, at least thirty (30) days prior, written notice of her resignation.

37.02

The period of notice must be for times scheduled to be worked and must not include accrued vacation or other banked time.

37.03

If any employee fails to provide the thirty (30) days notice period, the Employer may deduct from any monies owing to the employee, an amount which is proportionate to the time they actually terminated their employment at the end of the required thirty (30) days notice period.

ARTICLE 38 — SENIORITY

38.01

Seniority for a regular employee, whether full time or part time, is defined as the length of the regular employee's continuous employment from the date of commencement of regular employment.

38.02

Seniority for a casual employee is defined as the number of the casual employee's cumulative straight time hours worked in the employ of the Employer from the date of commencement of casual employment.

38.03

Seniority for regular employees shall be maintained and accumulated under the following conditions:

- A) absence due to an occupational illness or accident recognized as such by the Workers' Compensation Board;
- B) maternity, parental, adoption leave;
- C) absence due to any paid leave for the period of the leave up to three (3) months;
- D) absence due to any unpaid leave of absence for the first twenty (20) days;
- E) absence due to the conduct of Union business;
- F) long term disability.

For time periods in excess of those stated above, seniority shall be maintained but not accumulated. In addition, seniority shall be maintained but not accumulated while such regular employees are absent due to long term disability.

38.04

In January and July of each calendar year, the Employer shall post a seniority list indicating the name and start date of each of the regular full time or part time employees and such list shall be sent to the Union.

38.05

In March and September of each calendar year, the Employer shall post a seniority list indicating the name and straight time cumulative hours worked since the original start date of each of the casual employees and such list shall be sent to the Union.

38.06

Casual employees commencing regular full time or part time employment shall be credited for their cumulative straight time hours worked as a casual.

38.07 Employment in Excluded Positions

- A) An employee accepting a continuous position with the Employer, which is outside the bargaining unit, shall retain their seniority accumulated prior to the date of leaving the bargaining unit for a period of three (3) months;
- B) An employee temporarily substituting in an excluded position with the Employer shall continue to accumulate their seniority.

ARTICLE 39 — STATEMENT OF DUTIES/JOB DESCRIPTIONS AND CLASSIFICATIONS

39.01

Upon request, an employee shall be entitled to a complete and current statement of the duties and responsibilities of their position, including the position's classification level for salary purposes.

39.02

The Employer shall draw up job descriptions for all jobs and classifications for which the Union is the certified bargaining agent. Such job descriptions shall be sent to the Union for purposes of consultation. After consultation, the Employer shall finalize the job descriptions and deliver them to the Union.

39.03

Each employee shall be provided with a copy of the job description for their position.

39.04

Where the Employer establishes a new position within the bargaining unit, the Employer and the Union agree to meet and consult to discuss the wage rate and qualifications of the job description.

39.05

If the Union does not object to the wage rate for such new position referred to in Article 39.04 above within thirty (30) days of the meeting, the wage rate is deemed to be agreed after the thirty (30) day period. In the event that the Union wishes to challenge the appropriate rate for the new position, the matter may be resolved through the grievance and arbitration procedure and the arbitrator has jurisdiction to determine the wage rate only.

ARTICLE 40 — ABANDONMENT OF POSITION

40.01

An employee who fails to report for duty for three (3) consecutive work days without informing the Employer for the reason for their absence will be presumed to have abandoned her position. An employee shall be afforded the opportunity to rebut such presumption and demonstrate that there were reasonable grounds for not having informed the Employer.

ARTICLE 41 — REGISTRATION

The Employer will pay up to a maximum of six hundred (\$600) dollars of the cost of registration for employees who wish to retain membership in professional organizations related to their job duties and responsibilities.

ARTICLE 42 — FILLING AND POSTING VACANCIES

42.01

The Employer shall post a vacant position initially with existing employees and then where there are no qualified applicants will advertise in the community all regular full time and part time vacant positions describing the position, the location of the vacancy, the date of commencement and the required qualifications. The Employer shall post and advertise a vacancy at least fourteen (14) calendar days in advance of selection.

42.02

In filling such vacant regular positions, appointments shall be made to the employee or person with the required qualifications, level of competence and efficiency as required by the position. Where the selection is between two employees and such requirements are equal, seniority shall be the determining factor.

42.03

If an employee is promoted or transferred to a vacant position, then the employee shall be considered a qualifying employee in their new position and will not be required to serve a probationary period.

42.04 Temporary Appointments

- A) The Employer may make a temporary appointment to a position in which the present incumbent has been granted a leave of absence. Where such leave of absence is for a period in excess of four (4) calendar months, the Employer shall post a notice relative to the nursing vacancy. Such temporary employment shall not exceed twelve (12) months' duration, unless the Union and the Employer mutually agree to extend this time limit. The Employer shall advise the Union of such long-term appointments.
- B) Where a job posting under 41.04 is filled by a casual employee and the casual employee occupies the position in excess of four (4) months, they will be entitled to the following benefits:
 - i) ability to take vacation time off, provided that the casual employee notifies the Employer immediately upon acceptance of the appointment indication that vacation

benefit is not to be paid out on every payday but accrued instead;

- ii) upon commencement in the appointment, the employee shall accrue sick leave benefits in accordance with Article 23 Sick Leave; and
- iii) ability to enrol in the benefit plan at the sole cost of the Employer.

Access to these benefits shall cease when either the incumbent returns to the position, or the casual employee is no longer working in the position.

ARTICLE 43 — HIRING PREFERENCE

43.01

When hiring new employees for full time, part time or casual work, the Employer may give preference to First Nations people generally and, in particular, to members of the Tsartlip Band.

ARTICLE 44 — PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES

44.01

All regular employees shall be probationary during the first four (4) months of employment.

44.02

All casual employees shall be probationary during the first five hundred (500) hours worked.

44.03

All employees shall serve only one probationary period.

44.04

During the probationary period, the employee may be terminated if the Employer finds the employee to be unsuitable, providing the factor involved in suitability could reasonably be expected to affect work performance.

44.05

During the probationary period referred to in Articles 44.01 and 44.02, the Employer or their designate shall evaluate the work of said probationary employee referred to therein and deliver a written evaluation report to such employee.

ARTICLE 45 — CASUAL EMPLOYEES

45.01 Definition

Casual employees may be employed to work full shifts or part shifts on a continuous or intermittent basis in capacities including:

- a) sickness relief;
- b) vacation relief
- c) leave of absence relief;
- d) relief pending a regular employee appointment;
- e) temporary work load;

- f) paid holiday relief;
- g) overtime owing relief;
- h) maternity leave relief.

45.02 Wages

Casual employees shall be paid in accordance with the wage schedule attached hereto.

45.03 Benefit Entitlement

Casual employees shall be entitled to the provisions of any appropriate federal act in respect to vacation pay and pay for paid holidays.

ARTICLE 46 — STAFF EVALUATION

46.01

A written performance evaluation of each employee shall be carried out at the request of the employee or at least every three (3) years of their employment except for probationary employees as set out in Article 44 – Probationary Employees.

46.02

An employee shall be notified of the time during which the evaluation will be carried out by the Employer or their designate and the employee will signify her awareness of the evaluation when the written evaluation report is reviewed with them. If any employee disagrees with the evaluation, the employee may object in writing to the evaluation and such objection shall be retained by the Employer with the written evaluation.

46.03

Any employee who disputes an adverse written evaluation report may have recourse through the grievance procedure.

ARTICLE 47 — TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE

47.01 Technological Change Means

- A) the introduction by the Employer into work, undertaking, or business of equipment or material of a different nature or kind than previously utilized by the Employer in the operation of the work, undertaking, or business; and
- B) a change in the manner in which the Employer carries on the work, undertaking, or business that is directly related to the introduction of that equipment or material.

47.02

If a technological change is likely to affect the terms and conditions or security of employment of a significant number of bargaining unit employees, such employees affected by the technological change and the Union shall be notified in writing at least one hundred twenty (120) days in advance of the day on which the technological change is to be effected.

ARTICLE 48 — LAYOFF AND RECALL

LAYOFF

48.01

The Employer may lay off any employee for budgetary reasons, lack of work, or operational restructuring. In the event, the Employer shall provide thirty (30) days written notice of layoff to the employee or employees affected and a copy of such notice will be sent to the Union.

48.02

Any employee who is subject to layoff shall have the right to bump into a position in accordance with their seniority provided that they possess the necessary ability, experience and qualifications to perform the duties of the new position.

48.03

An employee subject to layoff shall not be entitled to bump up or to be assigned to or fill a vacancy for a higher paid position.

RECALL

An Employee on layoff status shall have recall rights for the first three (3) months after being laid off.

48.04

Should a vacant position occur during the layoff period, an eligible employee on layoff shall be recalled to such vacant position in order of seniority during the applicable layoff period providing they have the capabilities and qualifications to perform the duties of that vacant position.

48.05

The Employer shall give seven (7) calendar days written notice of recall to the laid off employee to fill the vacant position and they shall keep the Employer advised at all times of their current address. A laid off employee failing to report for work for a position referred to in Article 48.04 within ten (10) calendar days of the receipt of the written notice shall be considered to have abandoned her right to re-employment.

Employees required to give two (2) weeks' notice to another Employer shall be deemed to be in compliance with the ten (10) day provision.

48.06

Any recall shall not result in a promotion unless agreed by the Union and the Employer.

48.07

If no employee on layoff possesses the required capabilities and qualifications, the vacant position will be posted in accordance with Article 42 - Filling and Posting Vacancies. No new employee or casual employee shall be hired to fill regular positions until those on the layoff list have been given first option of recall.

48.08

An employee recalled to the vacant position shall be considered a qualifying employee pursuant to

Article 42.03. If the employee is found to be unsatisfactory in the qualifying period, they shall be returned to the recall list.

48.09

An employee on the recall list may work on a casual basis if required by the Employer and in so doing, they shall not be considered to have been recalled to work under Article 48.04.

ARTICLE 49 — HARASSMENT AND DISCRIMINATION

A) No Discrimination

The parties subscribe to the principles of the *Canadian Human Rights Act*. The parties agree that there shall be no discrimination in the employment of any person or the continuance of employment of any person under the terms and conditions of this Agreement by reason of race, ancestry, place of origin, colour, religion, age, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, marital status, family status, physical or mental disability, political belief or conviction of an offence for which a pardon has been granted, provided this provision shall not apply with respect to any refusal, limitation, specification, or preference based on a bona fide occupational requirement.

B) No Harassment

The parties recognize the right of employees to work in an environment free from harassment or sexual harassment. The parties agree to foster and promote such an environment. Harassment is defined as deliberate actions, that ought reasonably to be known as unwelcome by the recipient and which serve no legitimate work related purpose, toward any individuals, employees, Employer or other Band members. Sexual harassment includes but is not limited to:

- (1) a person in authority asking any employee for sexual favours in return for being hired or receiving promotions or other employment benefits;
- (2) sexual advances with actual or implied work related consequences;
- (3) unwelcome remarks, questions, jokes or innuendo of a sexual nature, including sexual comments or sexual invitations;
- (4) verbal abuse, intimidation, or threats of a sexual nature;
- (5) leering, staring or making sexual gestures;
- (6) display of pornographic or other sexual materials;
- (7) offensive pictures, graffiti, cartoons or sayings;
- (8) unwanted physical contact such as touching, patting, pinching, hugging.

This definition of sexual harassment is not meant to inhibit interactions or relationships based on mutual consent or normal social contact between employees.

- C) Any complaints of discrimination or harassment shall be handled in accordance with the grievance and arbitration process.
- D) Article 49 (A) is subject to Article 43 (Hiring Preference), the provisions of which constitute a fair and reasonable hiring practice of the Employer.

ARTICLE 50 — OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

50.01 Statutory Compliance

The Employer and the Union agree to cooperate in the promotion of safe working conditions, the prevention of accidents, the prevention of workplace injuries and industrial diseases and the promotion of safe working practices.

There shall be full compliance with all applicable statutes and regulations pertaining to the working environment.

50.02 Occupational Health and Safety Committee

- A) The Parties agree that a Joint Occupational Health and Safety Committee will be established. The Committee shall govern itself in accordance with the provisions of the Industrial Health and Safety Regulations made pursuant to the Workers' Compensation Act. The Committee shall be comprised of members of the Employer and the Union in equal numbers, and with each party appointing its own representatives.
- B) Employees who are members of the Committee shall be granted leave and pay to attend meetings of the joint committee. Employees who are members of the Committee shall participate in joint workplace inspections and joint accident investigations at the request of the Committee pursuant to the WCB Industrial Health and Safety Regulations. Committee meetings, workplace inspections, and accident investigations shall be scheduled during normal working hours.
- C) The Occupational Health and Safety Committee may use the resources of the Workers' Compensation Board to provide information to the Committee members in relation to their role and responsibilities. The Committee will assist in increasing the awareness of all staff on such topics as: workplace safety, safe lifting techniques, dealing with aggressive clients, Workplace Hazardous Materials Information System (WHMIS) and the role and function of the Occupational Health and Safety Committee. The Committee will assist in fostering knowledge of and compliance with the Industrial Health and Safety Regulations by all staff.
- D) The Employer will provide orientation or in-service which is necessary for the safe performance of work, the safe use of equipment, safe techniques for lifting and supporting clients/residents and the safe handling of materials and products. The Employer will also make readily available information, manuals and procedures for these purposes. The Employer will provide appropriate safety clothing and equipment.
- E) The Occupational Health and Safety Committee may make recommendations on ergonomic adjustments and on measures to protect pregnant employees as far as occupational health and safety matters are concerned.

50.03 Vaccination and Inoculation

- A) The Employer agrees to take all reasonable precautions to limit the spread of infectious diseases among employees, including in-service seminars for employees, and the provision of available immunization vaccines free of charge to those employees who may be exposed to sources of high risk contagious infection.
- B) An employee may be required by the Employer, at the request of and at the expense of the Employer, to take a medical examination. Employees may be required to take skin tests, x-ray

examination, vaccination and other immunization (with the exception of a rubella vaccination when the employee is of the opinion that a pregnancy is possible), unless the employee's physician has advised in writing that such a procedure may have an adverse effect on the employee's health.

ARTICLE 51 - USE OF PERSONAL VEHICLE ON BAND BUSINESS

51.01

An employee who uses their own motor vehicle to conduct business on behalf of and at the request of the Employer shall receive reimbursement for use of the vehicle at the automobile allowance rates set by the Canada Revenue Agency.

51.02

- A) An employee who uses their own motor vehicle to conduct business on behalf of and at the request of the Employer, shall receive reimbursement for additional insurance costs incurred as a result for increase in third party liability coverage to five million dollars.
- B) The employee will provide a copy of the insurance policy demonstrating the increase and will be reimbursed for the year's expense. If an employee terminated their employment within that year, the amount reimbursed shall be pro-rated by the number of months worked and any difference shall be returned to the Employer.
- C) Employees driving their own motor vehicle to conduct business on behalf and at the request of the Employer shall, at any time, upon written request, be required to provide a copy of their driving record as a condition of their insurance reimbursement. The copy shall be kept in the employee's personnel file in accordance with Article 6.06 (C).

ARTICLE 52 — PENSION PLAN

The plan will be a defined contribution plan. Full-time employees, who have completed three months with Tsartlip First Nation, will participate in the Pension Plan. Part-time employees who have completed two (2) years of continuous employment with Tsartlip First Nation and earned thirty-five per cent (35%) of yearly maximum pensionable earnings in each of the two consecutive calendar years, will participate in the Pension Plan.

Employees in the Pension Plan contribute five per cent (5%) of earnings and be matched by the Employer.

ARTICLE 53 — EDUCATION

53.01 Education Allowance

If any employee wishes to undertake post-graduate training or education and such training and education is related to their job duties and responsibilities, the Employer, if funding is available, is prepared to offer an annual education allowance of up to one hundred dollars (\$100) per year if the term of the program is more than one year and up to fifty dollars (\$50) per year if the term of the program is less than a year.

53.02 Education Premiums

A) Education Premiums

No premium will be paid where the education is a requirement of the job description.

B) To Receive the Education Premium

An employee wanting to further their education and the education is relevant to their work or the Tsartlip Health Centre, will provide the education details to the Employer.

The Employer will advise if the education is relevant to the work or the Tsartlip Health Centre, and if it is eligible for a premium.

Where there is a disagreement as to the relevancy of the education to the work or the Tsartlip Health Centre, the process in Article 17 – Grievance Procedure will be followed.

C) Education Premium Pay

Employer approved education premium will be as follows:

- i) Head Start Assistant with an Early Childhood Education certificate \$20.00 per month.
- ii) Head Start Assistant with an Infant/Toddler or Special Needs certificate \$27.00 per month.
- iii) Receptionist or Medical Office Assistant with an Administrative Assistant certificate \$25.00 per month.
- iv) Any employee with a degree, excluding nurses, \$100.00 per month.
- v) Any employee with a masters \$125.00 per month.

Employees are only entitled to be paid for one education premium per month and will be paid for the education that achieves the highest education premium.

ARTICLE 54 — HEALTH CARE PLANS

Employees and their eligible dependents will be covered by the Tsartlip First Nation Group Benefits Plan (G.28025) or other plan mutually agreeable to the Union. The Employer shall pay fifty percent (50%) of the premium and employees will pay fifty percent (50%) of the premium, for Life Insurance, Accidental Death and Dismemberment, Short Term Disability, Long Term Disability, Dental, and extended Health Care Plan benefits.

ARTICLE 55 — WAGES ADMINISTRATION

55.01

The wages payable to employees under this Agreement are set out in the attached Appendix A - Classification and Wage Scale.

55.02

The pay period for employees shall be every two weeks.

55.03

Payment of wages shall be by cheque or direct deposit paid into the employee's bank.

55.04

Employees who are consistently late reporting to work or who are absent without legitimate excuse or authorization may have their pay deducted for such time on a pro-rated basis.

55.05 Increments

- A) All employees, except Nurses, shall move to the increment step indicated in Appendix A Classification and Wage Scale based on accumulated hours worked with the Employer.
- B) Registered Nurses shall each move to the increment step indicated in Appendix A -Classification and Wage Scale based on the length of continuous service from their most recent date of hire with the Employer.

55.06 Previous Experience

- A) When a new employee is recruited, the Employer will consider previous comparable experience. At the Employer's discretion, the employee may be commenced at any step in the wage grid for the classification as found in Appendix A Classification and Wage Scale.
- B) The newly hired employee is placed in the prevailing wage progression grid at the step reflecting one increment for each completed 1820 hours of experience.

ARTICLE 56 - PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILTY CLAUSE

In the interest of safe client care and safe professional practice, the parties agree to the following problem solving process to address employee concerns relative to patient care including:

- a) Professional practice conditions
- b) Safety of clients and health care employees
- c) Workload

56.01

The employee with a concern will discuss the matter with her immediate supervisor with the objective of resolving the concern. At their request the employee may be accompanied by a steward.

56.02

If the matter is not resolved to their satisfaction, the employee may complete a Professional Responsibility Report Form within seven (7) calendar days of their discussion with the immediate supervisor. The employee retains the original and forwards copies to her immediate supervisor and the Employer.

56.03

If the matter is not resolve to the employee's satisfaction within seven (7) calendar days, the employee may submit the concern in writing to the Employer and the BCNU. The Employer shall meet with the employee, and her Union Representative, within ten (10) days of receiving the written complaint, to discuss resolution of the concern. Prior to the meeting the Union and the Employer shall be provided access to all respective department policy and procedure manuals, and relevant information pertaining to the subject matter of concern.

The Employer shall respond to the employee in writing within seven (7) calendar days of the

meeting. The Employer shall provide written bona fide reasons for their decision.

56.04

If the matter is not resolved to the satisfaction of the employee, the matter shall be referred to a mutually agreed Troubleshooter.

BC Nurses' Union PROFESSIONAL RESPONSIBILITY FORM

Conversation with Excluded Manager:

Excluded Manager's Name:		Conversation Date:	
Date of Incident:		Area/Program:	
Date written response received from Exc	luded Manager	:	
Matter resolved to Employee's	o YES	Date PRF given to Employer	:
satisfaction	• NO		
1. General Information:			
Employee Name(s):			
Email / Phone #:			
Program / Service:			

2. Summary of Concern(s) and Contributing Factors

Describe the concern(s). Specify **counsellor or nursing care** that could not be done. Explain actual or potential hazards or situations that resulted from the concern(s). Attach additional pages as required. **Use point form and avoid acronyms**.

This PRF is related to	0	Professional practice	0	safety of clients	0	workload
(please tick all that		concerns				
apply):						

3. Attempted Remedy:

What corrective action was taken and by whom (e.g., you, Administrator...)?

ACTION AND RESULT	TAKEN BY: NAME / POSITION

4. Employee Recommendation(s):

Summarize your suggestions for ways of resolving the concern(s) or preventing its recurrence. Prioritize your recommendations in order of relative importance (e.g., 1, 2, 3 - Be specific and think creatively).

Please keep original PRF and send copies to:	 Excluded Manager Union Steward
--	--

ARTICLE 57 – ORIENTATION AND TRAINING

The parties to the collective agreement recognize the value of orientation programs for employees and that the responsibility for providing such programs lies with the Employer. The Employer agrees to provide such orientation in a manner it deems appropriate to employees new to the worksite or new to the programme to enable the employee to adjust.

Orientation shall include:

- i) fire and disaster plan
- ii) organizational structure
- iii) relevant policies and procedures
- iv) physical layout of the worksite and unit
- v) duties of the position

Employees required to attend such programs will be paid at the applicable rate of pay.

ARTICLE 58 — TERM OF AGREEMENT

The term of this Collective Agreement between the parties shall be: April 1, 2020 – April 2, 2024. The Collective Agreement shall remain in force and be binding upon the parties until a new Collective Agreement has been ratified.

APPENDIX A

CLASSIFICATION AND WAGE SCALE

Position	Current 2019	April 1, 2020	April 1, 2021
Head Start Coordinator	\$24.17	Lump sum	Lump sum
Head Start Assistant	-	\$19.21	\$19.59
Receptionist	\$15.71	-	-
Medical Office Assistant	\$18.83	\$23.93	\$24.40
Community Health Representative	\$23.95	\$24.50	\$24.99
NDDAP Counsellor	\$22.91	-	-
Start	-	-	\$34.00
500hours/4 months	-	-	\$34.25
Indigenous Patient Navigator	-	-	-
Start	-	-	\$30.00
500 hours/4 months	-	-	\$30.25

Position	Ratification	April 1, 2022	April 1, 2023	April 1, 2024
		2%	2%	2%
Head Start Coordinator				
Start	\$24.17	\$24.65	\$25.15	\$25.65
500 hours/4 months	\$25.32	\$25.83	\$26.34	\$26.87
1820 hrs	\$26.47	\$27.00	\$27.54	\$28.09
3940 hrs	\$27.62	\$28.17	\$28.74	\$29.31
Head Start Assistant				
Start	\$18.83	\$19.21	\$19.59	\$19.98
500 hours/4 months	\$19.08	\$19.46	\$19.85	\$20.25
1820 hrs	\$19.33	\$19.72	\$20.11	\$20.51
3940 hrs	\$19.59	\$19.98	\$20.38	\$20.79
Receptionist				
Start	\$18.75	\$19.13	\$19.51	\$19.90
500 hours/4 months	\$18.87	\$19.25	\$19.63	\$20.02
1820 hrs	\$18.99	\$19.37	\$19.76	\$20.15
3940 hrs	\$19.13	\$19.51	\$19.90	\$20.30
Medical Office Assistant				
Start	\$23.93	\$24.41	\$24.90	\$25.39
500 hours/4 months	\$24.08	\$24.56	\$25.05	\$25.55
1820 hrs	\$24.23	\$24.71	\$25.21	\$25.71
3940 hrs	\$24.40	\$24.89	\$25.39	\$25.89
Community Health Representative				
Start	\$24.50	\$24.99	\$25.49	\$26.00
500 hours/4 months	\$24.66	\$25.15	\$25.66	\$26.17
1820 hrs	\$24.82	\$25.32	\$25.82	\$26.34

3940 hrs	\$24.99	\$25.49	\$26.00	\$26.52
NDDAP Counsellor				
Start	\$34.00	\$34.68	\$35.37	\$36.08
500 hours/4 months	\$34.25	\$34.94	\$35.63	\$36.35
Indigenous Patient Navigator				
Start	\$30.00	\$30.60	\$31.21	\$31.84
500 hours/4 months	\$30.25	\$30.86	\$31.47	\$32.10

Position										
Registered Nurse										
Current	\$39.50									
		First Year	Second Year	Third Year	Fourth Year	Fifth Year	Sixth Year	Seventh Year	Eight Year	Ninth Year
Ratification		\$36.23	\$37.63	\$39.03	\$40.41	\$41.82	\$43.21	\$44.60	\$45.93	\$47.58
2% April 1, 2022		\$36.95	\$38.38	\$39.81	\$41.22	\$42.66	\$44.07	\$45.49	\$46.85	\$48.53
2% April 1, 2023		\$37.69	\$39.15	\$40.61	\$42.04	\$43.51	\$44.96	\$46.40	\$47.79	\$49.50
2% April 1, 2024		\$38.45	\$39.93	\$41.42	\$42.88	\$44.38	\$45.85	\$47.33	\$48.74	\$50.49

Position									
LPN									
	First Year	Second Year	Third Year	Fourth Year	Fifth Year	Sixth Year	Seventh Year	Eighth Year	Ninth Year
Ratification	\$28.43	\$29.26	\$30.15	\$30.62	\$31.10	\$31.57	\$32.04	\$32.51	\$32.98
2% April 1, 2022	\$29.00	\$29.85	\$30.75	\$31.23	\$31.72	\$32.20	\$32.68	\$33.16	\$33.64
2% April 1, 2023	\$29.58	\$30.44	\$31.37	\$31.86	\$32.36	\$32.85	\$33.33	\$33.82	\$34.31
2% April 1, 2024	\$30.17	\$31.05	\$32.00	\$32.49	\$33.00	\$33.50	\$34.00	\$34.50	\$35.00

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 1

It is understood and agreed that the hiring preference provision in Article 43 does not apply to regular employees on staff as at the date of the ratification of this Agreement.

LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 2

The parties agree that the Employer does not currently have an on-call or call-back system nor does it require employees to be on-call or to be called back for work. In the event that the Employer institutes a requirement for on-call or call-back, the Employer agrees to negotiate appropriate language with the Union prior to the implementation of any on-call or call-back system.

LETTER OF AGREEMENT

FOOT CARE

Between

TSARTLIP FIRST NATION

And

THE BRITISH COLUMBIA NURSES' UNION

The parties agree that foot care is not part of the Community Health Representative job description, and this additional work is being assigned to Marie Va'a.

When Marie provides footcare she will be paid fifty dollars (\$50) per hour.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

EARLY SAFE RETURN TO WORK

The Union and the Employer agree that ill or injured employees may benefit from involvement in Early Safe Return to Work Programs which may involve a number of initiatives such as a gradual increase in hours of work up to full shift hours, modified work, workplace modification, a work hardening program, or, if necessary a change in work assignment.

Participation in the program shall be considered a part of the treatment/rehabilitation process and the participation of the employee's physician will be sought. Depending on the employee's circumstances the process may be supernumerary.

The employee, an Employer designate, and the Union steward will meet to agree on a suitable program.

A written program for the employee will include:

- 1. An overview of the employee's program plan, including its expected outcome and end date. (Programs shall not exceed six months).
- 2. The number of phases in the program, their duration, and the number of hours to be worked per shift in each phase.
- 3. A detailed outline of Employer and employee responsibilities under the program.
- 4. A schedule of evaluations to determine progress toward the program outcome. As a result of an evaluation, a program may be modified or discontinued by mutual consent of the parties.

Employees engaged in an Early Safe Return to Work Program shall be provided with a copy of the written program.

The Employer designate shall be responsible for making all necessary arrangements for the employee's return to the workplace. The Union steward shall be allowed time away from their usual assigned duties to meet with Union members at the work site to familiarize them with the terms and conditions of their co-worker's return to work and to ensure co-worker support and encouragement.

The Union and the Employer agree that employees participating in an Early Safe Return to Work Program are entitled to all the benefits of the agreement, on a proportionate basis, except medical, extended health, dental plan coverage, and group life which shall be paid in accordance with Article 54.

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT

Re: Psychological Health and Safety in the Workplace

Background

The National Standard of Canada for Psychological Health and Safety in the Workplace (the Standard); the first of its kind in the world, is a set of voluntary guidelines, tools and resources intended to guide organizations in promoting mental health and preventing psychological harm at work.

Adopting the Standard can help organizations with:

- Productivity
- Financial Performance
- Risk Management
- Organizational Recruitment
- Employee Retention

Resources

https://www.csagroup.org/article/cancsa-z1003-13-bnq-9700-803-2013-r2018/ https://www.csagroup.org/article/spe-z1003-implementation-handbook/

The Employer will provide assistance and resources to the Occupational Health and Safety Committee to implement the above Standard. The committee will collaborate with the employees and the BC Nurses' Union in developing the plan.

SCHEDULE 1

DUES AND DEDUCTIONS

Dues and deductions should be deducted on the following:

- 1. straight time pay worked
- 2. straight time pay but not worked which includes:
 - (a) vacation
 - (b) paid holidays
 - (c) sick leave
 - (d) compassionate leave
 - (e) special leave
 - (f) education leave
 - (g) rest periods
 - (h) court duty pay
 - (i) professional leave
 - (j) WCB

Dues should not be deducted from the following:

- 1. (a) overtime
 - (b) paid holiday premiums
 - (c) call back/call in
 - (d) shift premium
 - (e) weekend premium
 - (f) on-call differential
 - (g) isolation allowance
 - (h) clothing allowance
 - (i) relief in a higher rated position
 - (j) special allowance
 - (k) qualification differential
 - (1) other miscellaneous: vehicle allowance, relocation expenses, etc.
- 2. (a) severance allowance
 - (b) pay-out of sick leave
 - (c) long term disability

TSARTLIP BAND (Employer)	B.C. NURSES' UNION (Union)
Heather Hastings, Manager	Laura Anderson, Senior Labour Relations Officer, Independent Bargaining
	Emily Doehnel
	Alena Peters
Date: April 7, 2022	Date: April 6, 2022

ABANDONMENT OF POSITION	.29
Allowances	.19
APPENDIX A	.41
ARBITRATION	
BAND BUSINESS	
BAND POLICIES	
Benefit Entitlement	
BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	16
Bridging of Service	
BULLETIN BOARDS	.20
CAREER DEVELOPMENT	0
Casual Employees CASUAL EMPLOYEES	.21
Christmas Closure	
Compassionate Care Leave	.22
Compensating Time Off	.12
CONTRACT NEGOTIATIONS AND	
PREPARATORY MEETINGS	
CONTRACTING OUT	
Copies of the Collective Agreement	5
COURT LEAVE	.23
DEFINITIONS	1
DISCIPLINE AND DISMISSAL	.26
Donor Leave	
DUES AND DEDUCTIONS	.48
EARLY SAFE RETURN TO WORK	
Education Premiums	
Employment in Excluded Positions	
EXAMINATION LEAVE	
FILLING AND POSTING VACANCIES	
Flexible Hours	
FOOT CARE	
General Education Programs	
GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	9
HARASSMENT AND DISCRIMINATION	.33
HEALTH CARE PLANS	
HIRING PREFERENCE	
Holiday Coinciding with a Day of Vacation	
Holiday Falling on a Scheduled Work Day	
Holiday on a Day of Rest	
Holiday Pay for Regular Part time Employees .	
Holidays Falling on a Saturday or Sunday	
HOURS OFWORK	.11
Increments	
INDIGENOUS LEAVE	.26
Industry Troubleshooter	.10
In-Service Programs	
LAYOFF AND RECALL	.32
LEAVE - EDUCATION - STAFF	
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS	.24
LEAVE - WORKERS' COMPENSATION	
Leave Domestic and Sexual Violence	
LEAVE FOR CONFERENCES AND	
CONVENTIONS	25
LEAVE FOR FAMILY-RELATED	.29
LLAY E FOR FAMIL FRELATED	

Leave for Union Matters5
Leave for Onion Matters
Leave Respecting Death of Child22
Leave Respecting Disappearance of Child 22
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 1 43
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 244
MANAGEMENT RIGHTS7
Natural Mother17
New Employees5
NO STRIKE/LOCKOUT DURING THE TERM
OF AGREEMENT8
OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY34
Occupational Health and Safety Committee 34
ORIENTATION AND TRAINING40
OVERTIME
Overtime for Part time Employees12
Overtime on Day Off
Overtime on Paid Holiday
Overtime Pay
Paid Holidays
PAID HOLIDAYS
PAID PRESIDENT LEAVE
PARENTAL LEAVE
PENSION PLAN
PERSONAL LEAVE WITHOUT PAY21
PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEES
Psychological Health and Safety in the
Workplace
PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT
Recognition of Objectives and Principles2
Records Removed
REGISTRATION
Return to Employment
SCHEDULE 1
Scheduling of Lieu Days14
beneduling of Lieu Days
Scheduling of Vacation
Scheduling of Vacation16
Scheduling of Vacation
Scheduling of Vacation16SENIORITY27Short Term Illness and Injury Plan (STIIP)14SICK LEAVE14STAFF EVALUATION31
Scheduling of Vacation16SENIORITY27Short Term Illness and Injury Plan (STIIP)14SICK LEAVE14STAFF EVALUATION31STATEMENT OF DUTIES/JOB
Scheduling of Vacation
Scheduling of Vacation16SENIORITY27Short Term Illness and Injury Plan (STIIP)14SICK LEAVE14STAFF EVALUATION31STATEMENT OF DUTIES/JOBDESCRIPTIONS AND CLASSIFICATIONS
Scheduling of Vacation
Scheduling of Vacation16SENIORITY27Short Term Illness and Injury Plan (STIIP)14SICK LEAVE14STAFF EVALUATION31STATEMENT OF DUTIES/JOBDESCRIPTIONS AND CLASSIFICATIONS
Scheduling of Vacation
Scheduling of Vacation16SENIORITY27Short Term Illness and Injury Plan (STIIP)14SICK LEAVE14STAFF EVALUATION31STATEMENT OF DUTIES/JOBDESCRIPTIONS AND CLASSIFICATIONSDESCRIPTIONS AND CLASSIFICATIONS28Statutory Compliance34Stewards3STEWARDS TRAINING COURSES5TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE31Technological Change Means31
Scheduling of Vacation16SENIORITY27Short Term Illness and Injury Plan (STIIP)14SICK LEAVE14STAFF EVALUATION31STATEMENT OF DUTIES/JOBDESCRIPTIONS AND CLASSIFICATIONSDESCRIPTIONS AND CLASSIFICATIONS28Statutory Compliance34Stewards3STEWARDS TRAINING COURSES5TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE31Technological Change Means31Temporary Appointments29TERM OF AGREEMENT40
Scheduling of Vacation16SENIORITY27Short Term Illness and Injury Plan (STIIP)14SICK LEAVE14STAFF EVALUATION31STATEMENT OF DUTIES/JOBDESCRIPTIONS AND CLASSIFICATIONSDESCRIPTIONS AND CLASSIFICATIONS28Statutory Compliance34Stewards3STEWARDS TRAINING COURSES5TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE31Technological Change Means31Temporary Appointments29
Scheduling of Vacation16SENIORITY27Short Term Illness and Injury Plan (STIIP)14SICK LEAVE14STAFF EVALUATION31STATEMENT OF DUTIES/JOBDESCRIPTIONS AND CLASSIFICATIONSDESCRIPTIONS AND CLASSIFICATIONS28Statutory Compliance34Stewards3STEWARDS TRAINING COURSES5TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE31Technological Change Means31Temporary Appointments29TERM OF AGREEMENT40
Scheduling of Vacation16SENIORITY27Short Term Illness and Injury Plan (STIIP)14SICK LEAVE14STAFF EVALUATION31STATEMENT OF DUTIES/JOBDESCRIPTIONS AND CLASSIFICATIONS28Statutory Compliance34Stewards3STEWARDS TRAINING COURSES5TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE31Technological Change Means31Temporary Appointments29TERM OF AGREEMENT40TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT BY
Scheduling of Vacation16SENIORITY27Short Term Illness and Injury Plan (STIIP)14SICK LEAVE14STAFF EVALUATION31STATEMENT OF DUTIES/JOBDESCRIPTIONS AND CLASSIFICATIONS

UNION RECOGNITION	
UNION RIGHTS AND ACTIVITIES	
UNION SECURITY	
UNION/MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE8	
UNPAID LEAVE	
USE OF PERSONAL VEHICLE ON BAND	

BUSINESS	
VACATION LEAVE	15
Vaccination and Inoculation	
WAGE SCALE	41
Wages	
WAGES ADMINISTRATION	